
  1368 Research Park Dr 
 Beavercreek, Ohio 

 
BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 

Regular Meeting – May 14, 2025, 6:00 p.m.  
 

 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
II. ROLL CALL 

 
III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
IV. REORGANIZATION  

 
V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

A. December 11, 2024  
 

VI. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
A. V-25-1, Patterson Park Church, 3655 E. Patterson Road 

 
VII. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
 



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS  
REGULAR MEETING, December 11, 2024, 6:00 PM 
 
PRESENT: Mr. Archibald, Mr. Cloonan, Mr. Essman, Ms. Pittl  
 
ABSENT: Mr. Bhatla 
 
Chairman Archibald called the meeting to order followed by roll call.  
 
Mr. Essman MOVED to excuse Mr. Bhatla from the meeting, seconded by Mr. 
Cloonan. Motion PASSED by majority voice vote. 
 
Mr. Cloonan MOVED approval of the agenda, seconded by Ms. Pittl. Motion 
PASSED by majority voice vote. 
 
MINUTES  
Ms. Pittl MOVED approval of the October 9, 2024 minutes, seconded by Mr. 
Essman. Motion PASSED by majority voice vote. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
V-24-5, Kathryn Woodruff, 3104 Bonnie Villa Lane 
Clerk Gillaugh read the notice of public hearing on an application filed by 
Kathryn Woodruff, 3104 Bonnie Villa Lane, Beavercreek, OH 45431, requesting 
a variance from Chapter 158.104 (A) requesting permission to construct an 
outbuilding partially in the side yard and a variance from Chapter 158.104 (H) 
to install a 500 gallon propane tank in the side yard. The property is located 
on the northwest corner of the intersection of Bonnie Villa Lane and Crystal 
Marie Drive further described as Book 4, Page 8, Parcel 159 on the Greene 
County Property Tax Atlas 
 
Mr. Funk summarized the staff report. He discussed the location and showed a 
video and several photos of the property. Mr. Funk discussed the Code 
requirements before 2009, and the Code modification that was made for 
accessory structures on corner lots. He reviewed an aerial map showing 
where an accessory structure could be located on this lot. Mr. Funk reviewed 
and gave his opinion of the Duncan Factors. He discussed the concerns from 
the written input, and staff’s opinion of the concerns. Staff recommended 
approval of the variance.  
 
Kathryn Woodruff, applicant, stated she runs a business, Busy Beaver Arts & 
Crafts that is located down the street on Dayton-Xenia Road. She said her and 
her husband go around the country and sell art. Mrs. Woodruff stated she 
needed a structure that has a hard bottom and something that is air tight. She 
explained they are planning on storing the items that they buy and resale at 
the shows and the items they use to make their product in the structure. Mrs. 
Woodruff thought maybe they would be able to park their cars in the garage 
again because that is where the items are currently being stored.  
 
In public input, Glenn Harshberger, 2120 Crystal Marie Drive, stated his biggest 
object was the third Duncan Standard about the neighborhood being 
substantially altered. He thought it was going to be substantially altered 
because the other accessory structures in the neighborhood were smaller and 



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 12/11/24 

2 

the properties that did have propane tanks were not visible from the street. 
Mr. Harshberger stated this property’s yard is a sloped yard, and said as a 
person looks into the side yard from Crystal Marie it is up probably 20 feet 
higher than the street level. Mr. Harshberger stated they had an objection with 
the propane tank since it is being moved closer to the street from where it is 
now. He believed rather it screened or not it would be much more visible.  
 
Dorothy Toto, 2088 Crystal Marie Drive, requested the variance be denied. 
She said she has lived across the street from this property for 52 years with 
the zoning designation of R-1A, Single Family Residential. She thought Mrs. 
Woodruff was requesting permission to build a commercial style building in 
her open side yard, and if permitted all she would see from the front of her 
property would be the side of a business building. Ms. Toto believed this 
would greatly decrease the value of her home and neighborhood. She 
questioned how the applicant would get her materials back to the building, 
and asked why the structure had to be so large. Mrs. Toto assumed this 
building would be used as storage for all her business supplies, and 
questioned if this qualified as a business or a residential area. She believed 
there were many areas she could have had this constructed, and when the 
house burnt she could have requested a variance then and it could have been 
built in a way that it didn’t block the whole neighborhood. Ms. Toto asked 
what the reason was for this meeting because the people at the zoning board 
allegedly told her it was already approved so there was nothing she could say.  
 
In written input, staff received three letters in opposition of the case. The 
Board members were provided copies of each.  
 
There being no further public input, the public hearing was closed.  
 
Mr. Cloonan asked when the house burnt, and if the applicant was the one 
who rebuilt it. Mrs. Woodruff said it burned in 2015, and she was the primary 
who rebuilt it even though her mother lived in it. Mr. Cloonan questioned 
when the house was rebuilt if it was bigger or similar in size. Mrs. Woodruff 
stated she had the house built for old people, and it is a little larger than it 
was originally. Mr. Cloonan asked if she knew she would live in the house one 
day. Mrs. Woodruff said she knew she would, and that is why she built it for 
old people because she intends to live there until she passes away. She 
explained she did not own the second business when she rebuilt the house.  
 
Mr. Essman questioned why the front door faces Crystal Marie Drive yet it has 
a Bonnie Villa Lane address. Mr. Funk explained the Engineering Department 
handles addresses. Mr. Essman asked if it was a substandard lot. Mr. Funk said 
no, it meets the lot requirements. Mr. Essman questioned if the lot coverage 
was ok with the ratio of lot size to house. Mr. Funk explained the calculation 
the City uses to determine the total amount of accessory structure square 
footage allowed. He said the applicant is within the parameters of what they 
are allowed.    
 
Mr. Archibald asked if there was a limit on the height of accessory structures. 
Mr. Funk said it was 16 feet, and this proposal was under that. Mr. Archibald 
questioned if there were any utility easements on the property. Mr. Funk said 
if there was an utility easement the accessory structure would be outside of it. 



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 12/11/24 

3 

Mr. Archibald questioned if the requirements for a detached garage were 
substantially different than an outbuilding. Mr. Funk said if they would have 
put garage doors on the structure and called it a garage, this variance would 
not even be needed.  
 
Mr. Archibald stated if the applicant chose to construct a garage, he asked if 
she would have to have a driveway and a garage door. Mr. Funk explained to 
meet the definition of garage, the intent is to store cars. Mr. Archibald 
questioned where an accessory structure could be located on the lot. Mr. 
Funk showed an aerial photo, and said it was only were the yellow box was 
located. He explained if the structure moved closer to Crystal Marie Drive it 
would increase the variance into the side yard. Mr. Funk said the reason for 
relocating the propane tank was to decrease the encroachment into the side 
yard for the accessory building. Mr. Archibald said some of his concern was 
the propane tank being out in front. He questioned if the propane tank could 
stay where it is, and move the accessory structure forward. Mr. Funk said it is 
possible, but the propane tank was going to be screened either way. He felt 
moving the large structure toward the road would have more impact on the 
neighbors. 
 
Mr. Archibald questioned if the screening for the propane tank gets included 
in the allowable accessory structure total. Mr. Funk said no, they don’t 
calculate screening.   
 
Mr. Cloonan asked if the only allowable space for the propane tank was the 
yellow box on the aerial photo and if it being too close to the house was an 
issue too. Mr. Funk said it has to be located 10 feet from property lines and 
from a building, and thought it would have to stay in the same location it 
currently is in to meet the requirements. Mr. Cloonan asked what type of 
screening is required for the propane tank. Mr. Funk said they could do 
natural landscape, but when he met with the applicant on site they mentioned 
the possibility of installing a privacy fence. Mr. Cloonan asked if the Code 
specifies for it to be a garage, it has to have a garage door or driveway. Mr. 
Funk said the Code has a definition for garage and it is used to store motor 
vehicles. Counsel Lounsbury read the definition of garage from the Code.  
 
Mrs. Woodruff said they did go around and around with the City on it being a 
garage or not. She stated she did not necessarily want a garage because she 
wanted it to be air tight, but she would put in a garage if this got denied. Mrs. 
Woodruff stated she intents to install a six-foot fence to screen the propane 
tank. She explained the structure she is proposing to build is a premium 
structure, and she wants to build something she wants to look at every day. 
Mrs. Woodruff said in regards to the propane tank, her and Mr. Funk met on 
site, and to appease the City she said she would agree to pay to move the 
propane tank to keep the structure location as far back as possible.   
 
Mr. Archibald said if they deny the variance for the propane tank, he 
questioned if they would move the accessory structure forward. Mrs. 
Woodruff said at some point she wants some backyard too, and now she has 
settled her brain on the fact this gives her some yard space. She explained 
where the fence could be located, and said if the propane tank stays in it’s 
current spot then the structure has to be moved closer to Crystal Marie Drive.   



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 12/11/24 

4 

 
Counsel Lounsbury said if they don’t approve the moving of the propane tank, 
the way the resolution is written, it requires the variance for the building to be 
constructed where it is shown on the plan.   
 
Mr. Archibald asked if they approved the variances, if she was obligated to go 
forward with this project. Counsel Lounsbury said no. Mr. Archibald asked 
what the fence restrictions are for the applicant’s property. Mr. Funk showed 
the aerial of her lot, and showed where a six foot fence would be permitted.  
 
Mr. Essman asked if the screening for the propane tank would have to be 
solid. Mr. Funk said vegetative screens were allowed with the intent to lessen 
the view of the tank.  
 
Mr. Cloonan MOVED to approve the variance for the propane tank, seconded 
by Mr. Essman because of the consideration of the criteria set forth in the 
staff report. Motion PASSED by a roll call vote of 4-0. 
 
Mr. Essman MOVED to approve the variance for the accessory outbuilding 
after hearing the consideration set forth in the staff report, seconded by Ms. 
Pittl. Motion PASSED by a roll call vote of 4-0. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Mr. Cloonan MOVED adjournment at 7:00 p.m., seconded by Mr. Essman 
Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.  
 
 
________________________ 
Melissa Gillaugh 
Deputy Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 








































